Charles University in Prague Faculty of Mathematics and Physics

MASTER THESIS



Filip Soudský

Weighted rearrangement-invariant function spaces

Department of Mathematical Analysis

Supervisor: Prof.RNDr. Luboš Pick, CSc., DSc Study program: Mathematics Specialization: Mathematical Analysis

Prague 2011

I would to thank all those who supported my studies including my parents Mrs. Ivana Soudská and Ing. Petr Soudský. I am grateful to my grandfather Mr. Jiří Červa, who taught me to speak English. And special thanks belong to my supervisor Prof. RNDr. Luboš Pick, CSc., DSc. for his worthy comments and his great amount of patience that he showed during the final modifications of the thesis.

I declare that I carried out this master thesis independently, and only with the cited sources, literature and other professional sources.

I understand that my work relates to the rights and obligations under the Act No. 121/2000 Coll., the Copyright Act, as amended, in particular the fact that the Charles University in Prague has the right to conclude a license agreement on the use of this work as a school work pursuant to Section 60 paragraph 1 of the Copyright Act.

In Prague 5.8.2011

Signature

Název práce: Váhové prostory funkcí s normou invariantní vzhledem k nerostoucímu přerovnání

Autor: Filip Soudský

Katedra: Katedra matematické analýzy

Vedoucí diplomové práce: Prof. RNDr. Luboš Pick CSc., DSc, KMA MFF UK

Abstrakt: V této práci se zaměříme na studium zobecněných Gamma prostorů $G\Gamma(p,m,v)$ a určíme některé jejich důležité vlastnosti. V [3], se autoři pokusili charakterizovat jejich asociovanou normu, ale získali pouze několik jejích jednostranných odhadů, pomocí nichž pak ukázali reflexivitu prostorů pro $p \geq 2$ a m > 1, navíc vše na prostorech konečné míry. Avšak charakterizace asociované normy a otázka reflexivity pro 2 > p > 1 zůstaly otevřenými problémy. V této práci zobecníme úlohu na σ -konečné prostory a tyto otevřené problémy vyřešíme.

Klíčová slova: Prostory s normou invariantní vůči nerostoucímu přerovnání, klasické Lorentzovy prostory, Gamma prostory

Title: Weighted rearrangement-invariant function spaces

Author: Filip Soudský

Department: Department of Mathematical Analysis

Supervisor: Prof. RNDr. Luboš Pick, CSc., DSc, KMA MFF UK

Abstract: In this thesis we focus on generalized Gamma spaces $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ and classify some of their intrinsic properties. In [3], the authors attempted to characterize their associate norms but obtained only several one-sided estimates. Equipped with these, they further showed reflexivity of generalized Gamma spaces for $p \ge 2$ and m > 1 under an additional restriction that the underlying measure space is of finite measure. However, the full characterization of the associate norm and of the reflexivity of such spaces for 2 > p > 1 remained an open problem. In this thesis we shall fill this gap. We extend the theory to a σ -finite measure space. We present a complete characterization of the associate norm, and we find necessary and sufficient conditions for the reflexivity of such spaces.

Keywords: rearrangement-invariant spaces, classical Lorentz spaces, Gamma spaces

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Preliminaries	3
3. Some useful integral inequalities	6
4. Lambda spaces	9
5. Gamma spaces	13
6. Generalized Gamma spaces	17
6.1. Normability and quasinormability	17
6.2. Characterization of $G\Gamma'$	21
6.3. Reflexivity	23
6.4. Open problems in Gamma spaces	25
References	26

WEIGHTED REARRANGEMENT-INVARIANT FUNCTION SPACES

FILIP SOUDSKÝ

1. INTRODUCTION

Weighted rearrangement invariant spaces play an important role in contemporary mathematics. They have many applications in various branches of analysis including the theory of function spaces, interpolation theory, mathematical physics and probability theory (see, for example, [6] and the references therein). A basic example of an important class of such spaces is that of the so-called classical Lorentz spaces. Their first appearance can be traced to 1951 when G. Lorentz introduced the spaces $\Lambda^p(v)$ in [5]. Later, in 1990, another type of related spaces, namely the $\Gamma^{p}(v)$ spaces, were introduced by Sawyer in [4], in order to characterize the associate space to the space $\Lambda^p(v)$ and to find conditions for boundedness of some classical operators from $\Lambda^p(v)$ to $\Lambda^q(w)$. A generalization of the $\Gamma^p(v)$ spaces was then made in [9], where the notion of the $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ space was introduced. The generalized classical Lorentz spaces of type Gamma cover some other classes of important function spaces including the so-called Grand Lebesgue spaces. Two years later, the same authors classified some of the basic properties of such function spaces in [8]. Finally, in [3], the same authors focused on the dual norm of these spaces. However, their results are incomplete in the sense that they obtain upper and lower estimates for the associate norms which do not meet. In this thesis we obtain a full characterization of the dual norms. Further, using the James characterization, the authors of [3] also prove reflexivity of these spaces, however, restricted to $p \geq 2$ and m > 1 and to a finite measure underlying space. In this thesis we obtain analogous results in full generality.

The thesis is divided into six sections. The following section provides the reader with basic definitions. In the third section, two characterizations of certain useful inequalities are presented. The fourth section contains some known results about the classical Lambda spaces. Also, the normability problem is studied there. The fifth section introduces the Gamma spaces and provides some motivation that lead to the appearance of such spaces in [4]. The final section contains our main original results. It is dedicated to the study of the generalized Gamma spaces that have been introduced only recently in [9]. We present some motivation for their definition, and we also point out some of their important particular instances in which $G\Gamma$ coincide with some other important function spaces. Conditions on the parameters are given, for which the functional $G\Gamma_{(p,m,v)}$ is a Banach function space or at least a quasi-Banach function space. Also, the dual norm is characterized. Finally, certain equivalent conditions for reflexivity of such spaces are given.

2. Preliminaries

Definition 1. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a measure space. We call (\mathcal{R}, μ) non-atomic if for every $x \in X$ we have

$$\mu(\{x\}) = 0.$$

Definition 2. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a measure space. We call (\mathcal{R}, μ) σ -finite if there exists a sequence of sets $A_n \subset \mathcal{R}$, such that $\mu(A_n) < \infty$ and

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \mathcal{R}.$$

Definition 3. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a σ -finite measure space. Denote \mathcal{M}^+ the space of all nonnegative real-valued μ -measurable functions and let $\rho : \mathcal{M}^+ \to [0, \infty]$ be a functional. We call ρ a Banach function norm if for all $f, g, f_n \in \mathcal{M}^+$ the following conditions hold:

- (1) $\rho(af) = a\rho(f), \ \rho(f+g) \le \rho(f) + \rho(g)$ and $\rho(f) = 0$ if and only if f = 0 μ -a.e;
- (2) if $f \leq g \mu$ -a.e. then $\rho(f) \leq \rho(g)$;
- (3) if $f_n \uparrow f$ then $\rho(f_n) \uparrow \rho(f)$;
- (4) if $\mu(E) < \infty$ then $\rho(\chi_E) < \infty$;
- (5) if $\mu(E) < \infty$ then $\int_E f d\mu \leq c_E \rho(f)$, where $0 < c_E < \infty$ depends only on E.

Define a Banach function space (BFS in short) by

$$X := \{ f \in \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{R}) : \|f\|_{X} := \rho(|f|) < \infty \}.$$

Definition 4. If we consider the same setting as in the previous definition without the axiom (5) and the first axiom requires only a quasinorm (the triangle inequality is satisfied with some constant), then we call ρ a Banach quasinorm and X defined by

$$X := \{ f \in \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{R}) : \|f\|_X := \rho(|f|) < \infty \}$$

a quasi-Banach function space (QBFS in short).

The couple (\mathcal{R}, μ) will in the whole paper denote a σ -finite measure space. We shall also use the symbol $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{R})$ for the set of all measurable real-valued functions on \mathcal{R} . Positive real constant C used in the proofs is not fixed and can be different on every line of the proof.

Let f be a real-valued function on \mathcal{R} , and let $t \in \mathbb{R}$. We will denote the set of all $x \in \mathcal{R}$ for which f(x) > t by $\{f > t\}$. For f real-valued measurable function on \mathcal{R} we shall use the following notation. We denote by

$$\lambda_f(t) := \mu(\{|f| > t\}), \quad t \in [0, \infty),$$

the distribution function of measurable function f, and by

$$f^*(t) := \inf \{ s : \lambda_f(s) \le t \}, \quad t \in [0, \mu(\mathcal{R})),$$

the nonincreasing rearrangement of f. We also define

$$f^{**}(t) := \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f^*(s) \mathrm{d}s, \quad t \in (0, \mu(\mathcal{R})).$$

Remark 1. Since f^* is a nonincreasing function. The mean value of f^* on (0, t) is greater or equal to $f^*(t)$. Hence,

$$f^{**}(t) \ge f^*(t)$$

for all $t \in (0, \mu(\mathcal{R}))$.

Lemma 1. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a σ -finite measure space. Let $f, g \in \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{R})$ and denote $a := \mu(\mathcal{R})$. Then

$$\int_{\mathcal{R}} fg \mathrm{d}\mu \le \int_0^a f^*(s)g^*(s)\mathrm{d}s.$$

Proof. See [1, Theorem 2.2].

Lemma 2. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a σ -finite non-atomic measure space. Suppose f belongs to $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{R})$ and let $0 < t < \mu(\mathcal{R})$. Then there exists measurable set E_t with $\mu(E_t) = t$, such that

$$\int_{E_t} |f| \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_0^t f^*(s) \mathrm{d}s$$

Proof. See [1, Lemma 2.5].

As an immediate consequence of this lemma, we obtain that for (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a σ -finite non-atomic and $t \in (0, \mu(\mathcal{R}))$, we can construct a set A with $\mu(A) = t$.

Definition 5. Measure space (\mathcal{R}, μ) is said to be resonant if for every pair $f, g \in \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{R})$ we have

$$\sup_{\tilde{g}^*=g^*} \int_{\mathcal{R}} f \tilde{g} \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_0^a f^*(s) g^*(s) \mathrm{d}s.$$

Lemma 3. Every non-atomic σ -finite measure space is resonant.

Proof. See [1, Theorem 2.7]

In the whole paper the symbol p' shall be defined by

$$p' := \frac{p}{p-1}$$
 for $p \in (1,\infty)$.

The term weight function (or briefly weight) will always mean a positive realvalued measurable function defined on (0, a), where $a \in (0, \infty]$.

Let A be a set and let $F, G : A \to [0, \infty)$ be two functions. We say F and G are equivalent, using the notation

 $F \approx G$,

if there exists a constant $C \in [1, \infty)$, such that

$$C^{-1}F(x) \le G(x) \le CF(x)$$
 for all $x \in A$.

Now we need to recall some propositions and terms from the theory of Banach function spaces which shall be useful in the sequel.

Definition 6. Let X be BFS. The associate space to X is the space of all measurable real-valued functions g satisfying

$$\|g\|_{X'} := \sup_{\|f\|_X \le 1} \int_{\mathcal{R}} fg < \infty.$$

As the associated norm is quite difficult to investigate from the expression in definition, so for a given BFS X, it is quite useful to find some expression that is at least equivalent to associate norm and can be expressed more explicitly.

Remark 2. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a non-atomic σ -finite measure space. If we consider a rearrangement invariant Banach function space (that is a Banach function space X, for which $||f||_X = ||g||_X$ whenever $f^* = g^*$), we may rewrite it's associate norm as follows:

$$||g||_{X'} = \frac{\int_{\mathcal{R}} fg d\mu}{\|f\|_X} = \frac{\int_0^u f^*(s)g^*(s)ds}{\|f\|_X},$$

where $a = \mu(\mathcal{R})$, since, by Lemma 3, (\mathcal{R}, μ) is resonant.

Definition 7. Let X, Y be normed linear spaces. We say that X is continuously embedded into Y (using the notation $X \hookrightarrow Y$) if $X \subset Y$ and there exists a constant $C \in (0, \infty)$, such that

$$\|z\|_Y \le C \|z\|_X$$

for all $z \in X$, that is, whenever the identity operator is continuous from X to Y.

Definition 8. Let X, Y be two normed linear spaces. Assume that X is continuously embedded into Y. We call the constant

$$Opt(X, Y) := \sup_{\|z\|_X = 1} \|z\|_Y < \infty$$

an optimal constant of the embedding $X \hookrightarrow Y$.

Definition 9. Let X be a Banach function space. We say that a function $f \in X$ has absolutely continuous norm if

$$\|f\chi_{E_n}\|_X \to 0$$

whenever $\chi_{E_n} \to 0 \ \mu$ -a.e. on \mathcal{R} .

Definition 10. A BFS X is said to have absolutely continuous norm whenever every $f \in X$ has absolutely continuous norm.

Theorem 1. Let X be a Banach function space. Then X is reflexive if and only if both X and the associated space X' have absolutely continuous norm.

Proof. See [1, Corollary 4.4].

3. Some useful integral inequalities

Theorem 2. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a σ -finite non-atomic measure space. Denote $r := \mu(\mathcal{R})$. Let $f \in L^1_{loc}$ and $p \in (1, \infty)$. Then there exists $a \in (0, r)$ such that

$$f^{**}(t) + \left(\frac{1}{t}\int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}}f^{*}(s)\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \approx \left(\frac{1}{t}\int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'}\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}$$

for $t \in (0, a)$.

Proof. Note that for $\alpha \in (1, \infty)$ and all $t \in (0, \frac{r}{\alpha})$ we have

$$f^{**}(\alpha t) \ge \frac{1}{\alpha} f^{**}(t).$$

So, applying this to $\alpha = \frac{s}{t}$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s &= \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(\frac{s}{t}t)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s \geq \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} \frac{t^{p'}}{s^{p'}} f^{**}(t)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s \\ &= t^{p'-1} f^{**}(t)^{p'} \int_{t}^{r} \frac{1}{s^{p'}} \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

Now, if $r = \infty$, then

$$\int_{t}^{r} \frac{1}{s^{p'}} \mathrm{d}s = \frac{1}{p'-1} t^{-p'+1}.$$

For $r < \infty$ we have

$$\int_{t}^{r} \frac{1}{s^{p'}} \mathrm{d}s = \frac{1}{p'-1} (t^{-p'+1} - r^{p'-1}).$$

But we may assume that 2t < r (if we choose a small enough a). Hence,

$$\int_{t}^{r} \frac{1}{s^{p'}} \mathrm{d}s \ge \int_{t}^{2t} \frac{1}{s^{p'}} \mathrm{d}s = Ct^{-p'+1}$$

for all $t \in (0, a)$. Applying this to the original inequality, we get

$$f^{**}(t)^{p'} \le C \frac{1}{t} \int_t^r f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s.$$

Obviously also

$$\frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} f^{*}(s) \mathrm{d}s \le \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s,$$

since $f^*(s)$ is nonincreasing, which implies $f^{**}(x) \ge f^*(x)$ for all x > 0. Therefore

$$f^{**}(t)^{p'} + \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} f^{*}(s) \mathrm{d}s \le C \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s,$$

which implies

$$f^{**}(t) + \left(\frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} f^{*}(s) \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \le C \left(\frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}.$$

Let's prove the reverse inequality. It remains to show

$$f^{**}(t)^{p'} + \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} f^{*}(s) \mathrm{d}s \ge C \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s$$

for some C > 0. Denote $F(t) := \int_0^t f^*(s) ds$ and note that

$$f^{**}(t) = \frac{F'(t)}{t}, \quad t \in (0, r).$$

Rewriting the integral on the left with F instead of f^{**} and integrating it by parts, we get

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} f^{*}(s) \mathrm{d}s = \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} \frac{F(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}}}{s^{\frac{1}{p-1}}} f^{*}(s) \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{1}{p'} \left[\frac{1}{s^{\frac{1}{p-1}}} F(s)^{p'} \right]_{t}^{r} + \frac{1}{p} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{1}{p'} \left(\lim_{s \to r} \frac{1}{s^{\frac{1}{p-1}}} F(s)^{p'} - \frac{1}{t^{\frac{1}{p-1}}} F(t)^{p'} \right) + \frac{1}{p} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{1}{p'} \left(\lim_{s \to r} \frac{F(s)^{p'}}{s^{\frac{1}{p-1}}} - t f^{**}(t)^{p'} \right) + \frac{1}{p} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s \right). \end{split}$$

Neglecting the limit in the last expression and summing it with $f^{**}(t)^{p'}$ we see that it suffices to show

$$\frac{1}{p}f^{**}(t)^{p'} + \frac{1}{pt}\int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s \ge C\frac{1}{t}\int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s$$

for some C > 0, which, however, trivially holds.

For $p \in (1,2)$ we can get even a better result.

Theorem 3. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a σ -finite non-atomic measure space. Denote $r := \mu(\mathcal{R})$. Let $f \in L^1_{loc}$ and $p \in (1,2)$. Denote $p' := \frac{p}{p-1}$. Then there exists $a \in (0, r)$ such that

$$\left(\frac{1}{t}\int_{t}^{r}f^{**}(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}}f^{*}(s)\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \approx \left(\frac{1}{t}\int_{t}^{r}f^{**}(s)^{p'}\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}$$

for $t \in (0, a)$.

Proof. Obviously, since $f^* \leq f^{**}$,

$$\left(\frac{1}{t}\int_{t}^{r}f^{**}(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}}f^{*}(s)\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \leq \left(\frac{1}{t}\int_{t}^{r}f^{**}(s)^{p'}\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}$$

Similarly as in the proof of the previous theorem we obtain

$$\frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} f^{*}(s) \mathrm{d}s \ge -\frac{1}{p'} f^{**}(t)^{p'} + \frac{1}{pt} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s.$$

So now we would like to prove

$$-\frac{1}{p'}f^{**}(t)^{p'} + \frac{1}{pt}\int_t^r f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s \ge C\frac{1}{t}\int_t^r f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s,$$

which is equivalent to

$$\left(1 - \frac{1}{p'} - C\right) \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} \mathrm{d}s \ge \frac{1}{p'} f^{**}(t)^{p'}.$$

Using the fact mentioned at the beginning of the proof of the previous theorem, we see that

$$\frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{r} f^{**}(s)^{p'} ds = \int_{t}^{r} \frac{1}{t} f^{**} \left(t\frac{s}{t}\right)^{p'} ds \ge t^{p'-1} f^{**}(t) \int_{t}^{r} \frac{ds}{s^{p'}}$$
$$= (p'-1)(t^{1-p'} - r^{1-p'})t^{p'-1} f^{**}(t)$$
$$= (p'-1)\left(1 - \frac{t^{p'-1}}{r^{p'-1}}\right) f^{**}(t).$$

If we use this calculation in the original equivalence, we obtain that it suffices to show

$$(p'(p'-1))\left(1-\frac{1}{p'}-C\right)\left(1-\frac{t^{p'-1}}{r^{1-p}}\right)f^{**}(t) \ge f^{**}(t).$$

Now if we consider $t \in (0, a)$ and we realize that a > 0 and C > 0 can be chosen arbitrarily small, it suffices to show

$$(p'(p'-1))\left(1-\frac{1}{p'}\right) = (p'-1)^2 > 1,$$

which for 1 trivially holds. This completes the proof.

4. LAMBDA SPACES

Definition 11. Let $0 < a \le \infty$ and let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a measure space with $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = a$, where μ is non-atomic and σ -finite, and let v be a weight function defined on (0, a). Let $p \in (0, \infty)$.

The set $\Lambda^{p}(v)$ is the set of all measurable real-valued functions, such that

$$||f||_{\Lambda^{p}(v)} := \left(\int_{0}^{a} f^{*}(x)^{p} v(x) \mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty.$$

Remark 3. The functional $\|.\|_{\Lambda^p(v)}$ is not always a norm, because the triangle inequality doesn't have to hold. Even a sum of two functions belonging to the $\Lambda^p(v)$ space doesn't have to belong there, as the following example shows.

Example 1. Let $\mathcal{R} := \mathbb{R}$ and let μ be the Lebesgue measure. Set

$$v(t) := \chi_{(0,1)}(t) + \frac{1}{t-1}\chi_{(1,\infty)}(t).$$

Now taking

$$f(x) := \chi_{(0,1)}(x)$$
 and $g(x) := \chi_{(1,2)}(x)$,

we have $f \in \Lambda^p(v), g \in \Lambda^p(v)$ but $f + g \notin \Lambda^p(v)$.

G. Lorentz in [5] found a necessary and sufficient condition on the weight function v for which $\Lambda^{p}(v)$ forms a Banach space.

Theorem 4. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a σ -finite non-atomic measure space with $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = a$. Let $p \in [1, \infty)$, and let $v \in L^1_{loc}[0, \infty)$ be a weight defined on (0, a) (where $a = \mu(\mathcal{R})$). Then the set $\Lambda^p(v)$ is a Banach function space if and only if v is a nonincreasing function.

Proof. Let v be nonincreasing and let $f, g \in \Lambda^p(v)$. Without loss of generality suppose $f, g \ge 0$. Then we have

$$||f + g||_{\Lambda^{p}(v)} = \left(\int_{0}^{a} (f + g)^{*}(s)^{p} v(s) \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Choose $\varepsilon > 0$. Now, since (\mathcal{R}, μ) is non-atomic, we know it's also resonant (for proof see [1, Theorem 2.6]). Therefore we can find $h \in \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{R})$ with $h^* = v$, such that

$$\left(\int_0^a (f+g)^*(s)^p v(s) \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \ge \left(\int_{\mathcal{R}} (f+g)^p h \mathrm{d}\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
$$\ge \left(\int_0^a (f+g)^*(s)^p v(s) \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} - \varepsilon.$$

Define the measure ν by

$$\nu(A) := \int_A h \mathrm{d}\mu.$$

Using the Minkovski inequality in the space (\mathcal{R}, ν) , we obtain:

$$\|f+g\|_{\Lambda^p(\nu)} - \varepsilon \le \left(\int_{\mathcal{R}} (f+g)^p \mathrm{d}\nu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \le \left(\int_{\mathcal{R}} f^p \mathrm{d}\nu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \left(\int_{\mathcal{R}} g^p \mathrm{d}\nu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

by the Hardy-Littlewood theorem (see [1, Theorem 2.2]). The latter expression is less than or equal to

$$\left(\int_0^a f^*(s)^p v(s) \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \left(\int_0^a g^*(s)^p v(s) \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \|f\|_{\Lambda^p(v)} + \|g\|_{\Lambda^p(v)}$$

Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, we get

$$||f + g||_{\Lambda^{p}(v)} \le ||f||_{\Lambda^{p}(v)} + ||g||_{\Lambda^{p}(v)}$$

Now let's suppose the triangle inequality holds and choose $a, h, \delta > 0$, such that $a + h < \mu(\mathcal{R})$. Again since \mathcal{R} is non-atomic we can find sets A, B, such that $\mu(A) = \mu(B) = a + h$, $\mu(A \cap B) = a$. Set $f := \chi_{A \cup B} + \delta \chi_A$ and $g := \chi_{A \cup B} + \delta \chi_B$. Now the triangle inequality applied on f, g yields:

$$\left[(2+2\delta)^p \int_0^a v(s) ds + (2+\delta)^p \int_a^{a+2h} v(s) ds \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ \le 2 \left[(1+\delta)^p \int_0^a v(s) ds + \int_{a+h}^{a+2h} v(s) ds \right]^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

which is equivalent to

$$(2+\delta)^p \int_a^{a+2h} v(s) ds \le (2+2\delta)^p \int_a^{a+h} v(s) ds + 2^p \int_{a+h}^{a+2h} v(s) ds$$

and thus

$$\frac{(2+\delta)^p - 2^p}{(2+2\delta)^p - (2+\delta)^p} \int_{a+h}^{a+2h} v(s) \mathrm{d}s \le \int_a^{a+h} v(s) \mathrm{d}s.$$

If we denote $V(t) := \int_0^t v(s) ds$ and let $\delta \to 0$ we obtain:

$$V(a+2h) - V(a+h) \le V(a+h) - V(a),$$

therefore V is concave, so v is nonincreasing.

Note that the requirements on the weight function are quite strong. We could therefore ask when the functional $\|.\|_{\Lambda^p(v)}$ is at least a quasinorm. The condition on the weight function is quite simple.

Definition 12. Let v be a positive real-valued function defined on (0, a). We say that v satisfies the Δ_2 -condition if there exists a constant c such that

$$V(2t) \le cV(t)$$
 for all $t \in (0, a)$,

where V is defined by $V(t) := \int_0^t v(s) ds$.

Theorem 5. Let $p \in [1, \infty)$ and v be a weight defined on $(0, \infty)$. Then the functional $\|.\|_{\Lambda^{p}(v)}$ is a quasinorm if and only if v satisfies the Δ_{2} -condition.

Proof. Let the weight not satisfy the Δ_2 -condition. Then we can find a sequence $t_n \in (0, a)$, such that

$$2^p n^p V(t_n) \le V(2t_n).$$

Then again since (\mathcal{R}, μ) is σ -finite and non-atomic, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we can find disjoint sets A_n, B_n , such that $\mu(A_n) = \mu(B_n) = t_n < \frac{\mu(\mathcal{R})}{2}$. Set $f_n := \chi_{A_n}$, $g_n := \chi_{B_n}$. We have

$$f_n^*(s)^p = \chi_{(0,t_n)} = g_n^*(s)^p$$
10

and

$$(f_n + g_n)^*(s)^p = \chi_{(0,2t_n)}(s)$$

Hence

$$\|g_n + f_n\|_{\Lambda^p(v)} = \left(\int_0^a (f_n + g_n)^*(s)^p v(s) \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = (V(2t_n))^{\frac{1}{p}} \ge 2nV(t_n)$$

and

$$||g_n||_{\Lambda^p(v)} = ||f_n||_{\Lambda^p(v)} = (V(t_n))^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

therefore

$$\|f_n\|_{\Lambda^p(v)} + \|g_n\|_{\Lambda^p(v)} \le n \|f_n + g_n\|_{\Lambda^p(v)}$$

and so $\|.\|_{\Lambda^{p}(v)}$ is not a quasinorm.

Let the Δ_2 -condition be satisfied. Define the measure μ_v on $(0,\infty)$ by

$$\mu_v(A) := \int_A v(s) \mathrm{d}s.$$

Then, using Fubini's theorem, we can express the norm in a different form

$$\|f\|_{\Lambda^{p}(v)}^{p} = \int_{0}^{a} f^{*}(s)^{p} v(s) \mathrm{d}s = \int_{0}^{\infty} \mu_{v} \left\{ f^{*}(s)^{p} > t \right\} \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{\infty} \mu_{v} \left\{ f^{*} > t^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \mathrm{d}t.$$

Now after the change of variable $s = t^{\frac{1}{p}}$ we obtain

$$||f||_{\Lambda^{p}(v)}^{p} = \int_{0}^{\infty} ps^{p-1} \mu_{v} \{f^{*} > s\} \,\mathrm{d}s = \int_{0}^{\infty} ps^{p-1} V(\lambda_{f}(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Finally, using the last expression, we have

$$\|f+g\|_{\Lambda^{p}(v)}^{p} = \int_{0}^{\infty} ps^{p-1}V(\lambda_{f+g}(s))\mathrm{d}s \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} ps^{p-1}V\left(\lambda_{f}\left(\frac{s}{2}\right) + \lambda_{g}\left(\frac{s}{2}\right)\right)\mathrm{d}s$$
$$\leq 2\int_{0}^{\infty} pt^{p-1}V(\lambda_{f}(t) + \lambda_{g}(t))\mathrm{d}t$$
$$2C\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} pt^{p-1}V(\lambda_{f}(t))\mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{\infty} pt^{p-1}V(\lambda_{g}(t))\mathrm{d}t\right) = 2C\left(\|f\|_{p}^{p}(s) + \|g\|_{p}^{p}(s)\right)$$

$$\leq 2C \left(\int_0^\infty p t^{p-1} V(\lambda_f(t)) dt + \int_0^\infty p t^{p-1} V(\lambda_g(t)) dt \right) = 2C \left(\|f\|_{\Lambda^p(v)}^p + \|g\|_{\Lambda^p(v)}^p \right)$$

Therefore $\|\|_{L^{\infty}(v)}$ is a quasinorm. Verifying the other axioms of OBES is an easy

Therefore $\|.\|_{\Lambda^p(v)}$ is a quasinorm. Verifying the other axioms of QBFS is an easy job.

For more information about this topic see [6] or [12]. Seeing that $\Lambda^{p}(v)$ is not even a QBFS, we would like to know if everything still works. In order to do so we need to define some more general class then BFS.

Definition 13. Let ρ be a positive functional on $\mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{R})$ satisfying the following conditions: For all $f, g \in \mathcal{M}^+$ and all a > 0

(1)
$$\rho(af) = a\rho(f), \ \rho(f) = 0 \Leftrightarrow f = 0;$$

(2)
$$f \leq g \Rightarrow \rho(f) \leq \rho(g);$$

(2) $f^* = \rho^* \Rightarrow \rho(f) = \rho(g);$

(3)
$$f^* = g^* \Rightarrow \rho(f) = \rho(g).$$

Set

$$X := \{ f \in \mathcal{M} : ||f||_X := \rho(|f|) < \infty \}.$$

Then we call X a rearrangement invariant lattice.

Remark 4. It is obvious that both $\Gamma^p(v)$ and $\Lambda^q(w)$ are r.i. lattices for arbitrary weight functions v, w and $p, q \in (0, \infty)$.

We can define an embedding between lattices in a similar way as in the case of normed spaces. It is essential to observe that every embedding

$$\Gamma^{\frac{m}{p}}(w) \hookrightarrow \Lambda^{\frac{1}{p}}(u),$$

mentioned in [2], was considered as an embedding between r.i. lattices.

5. GAMMA SPACES

Definition 14. Let $0 < a \leq \infty$ and let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a measure space with $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = a$, where μ is non-atomic, and let v be a weight function defined on (0, a). Let $p, m \in (0, \infty)$. The function space $\Gamma^p(v)$ is the space of all measurable real-valued functions, such that

$$||f||_{\Gamma^p(v)} := \left(\int_0^a f^{**}(x)^p v(x) \mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty$$

This space first appeared in [4] in connection with the duality problem for the space $\Lambda^p(v)$. In the following section we consider for simplicity a σ -finite, non-atomic measure space (\mathcal{R}, μ) with $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = \infty$. The importance of the space arises from the following theorem.

Theorem 6. Let 1 , let <math>g, v be nonnegative measurable functions, and let $v \in L^1_{loc}[0,\infty)$. Denote $G(t) := \int_0^t g(s) ds$ and $V(t) := \int_0^t v(s) ds$. Then

$$\begin{split} \sup_{f \ge 0, f \downarrow} \frac{\int_0^\infty f(x)g(x)\mathrm{d}x}{\left(\int_\infty^a f(x)^p v(x)\mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}} &\approx \int_0^\infty \left(\int_x^\infty \frac{g(t)}{V(t)}\mathrm{d}t\right)^{p'} v(x)\mathrm{d}x\\ &\approx \left(\int_0^\infty G(x)^{p'-1}V^{1-p'}(x)g(x)\mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}\\ &\approx \left(\int_0^\infty G(x)^{p'}\frac{v(x)}{V(x)^{p'}}\mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} + \frac{\int_0^\infty g(s)\mathrm{d}s}{\left(\int_0^\infty v(s)\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}},\end{split}$$

where the constant from \approx depends only on p.

Now, if we manage to prove this theorem we can easily get to it's important corollary, that is, if we add some condition on the weight v, characterizing the norm of the associated space to $\Lambda^{p}(v)$.

Corollary 1. Let $v \in L^1_{loc}$, v > 0 be a nonincreasing function and $\int_0^\infty v(t) dt = \infty$. Set $X := \Lambda^p(v)$, then

$$\left\|g\right\|_{X'} \approx \left\|g\right\|_{\Gamma^{p'}(w)},$$

where $w(x) := x^{p'} \frac{v(x)}{V^{p'}(x)}$.

Proof. As we know from the previous section, if a weight function v is nonincreasing on $[0, \infty)$ and $v \in L^1_{loc}[0, \infty)$, then $\Lambda_p(v)$ is a Banach function space. Therefore we may consider it's associate space with the norm defined by:

$$||g||_{X'} := \sup_{||f||_{\Lambda^{p}(v)} \le 1} \int_{\mathcal{R}} fg d\mu = \sup_{f \ge 0} \frac{\int_{\mathcal{R}} fg d\mu}{\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} f^{*}(s)^{p} v(s) ds\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}},$$

where we use the convention $\frac{0}{0} = 0$. Since (\mathcal{R}, μ) is non-atomic and therefore resonant, we can replace $\int_{\mathcal{R}} fg d\mu$ by $\int_0^{\infty} f^*(s)g^*(s)ds$. Hence

$$||g||_{X'} = \sup_{f \ge 0} \frac{\int_0^\infty f^*(s)g^*(s)\mathrm{d}s}{\left(\int_0^\infty f^*(s)^p v(s)\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}},$$

which is by the previous theorem equivalent to

$$\left(\int_0^\infty G(x)^{p'} \frac{v(x)}{V(x)^{p'}} \mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} + \frac{\int_0^\infty g(t) \mathrm{d}t}{\left(\int_0^\infty v(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}}$$
13

and since $v \notin L^1$, the latter expression in the sum equals zero. We have

$$\left(\int_0^\infty G(x)^{p'} \frac{v(x)}{V(x)^{p'}} \mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} = \left(\int_0^\infty g^{**}(x)^{p'} x^{p'} \frac{v(x)}{V(x)^{p'}} \mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} = \|g\|_{\Gamma^{p'}(w)}.$$

Lemma 4. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$. Then there exists a constant C, such that for all $a_k \ge 0$,

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^j \left(\sum_{k=j}^{\infty} a_k\right)^p \le C \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^k a_k^p$$

holds.

Proof. We have, by the Hölder inequality for sums,

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^j \left(\sum_{k=j}^{\infty} a_k\right)^p = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^j \left(\sum_{k=j}^{\infty} 2^{\frac{j-k}{pp'}} 2^{\frac{k-j}{pp'}} a_k\right)^p$$
$$\leq \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^j \left(\sum_{k=j}^{\infty} 2^{\frac{j-k}{p}}\right)^{p-1} \left(\sum_{k=j}^{\infty} 2^{\frac{k-j}{p'}} a_k^p\right)$$
$$\leq C \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^j \left(\sum_{k=j}^{\infty} 2^{\frac{k-j}{p'}} a_k^p\right)$$
$$= C \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{\frac{k}{p'}} a_k^p \sum_{j=-\infty}^k 2^{\frac{j}{p}} \leq C \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^k a_k^p.$$

Now we are prepared to proceed with the proof of theorem 6.

Proof. Due to the monotone convergence theorem we may assume that g has compact support (for g without compact support consider $g_n := \chi_{(0,n)}g$ and then if for all g_n the inequalities hold then by the monotone convergence theorem it holds for g as well). Also without loss of generality suppose $\int_0^\infty g(s) ds = 1$ (otherwise we can take αg for an appropriate $\alpha \in (0, \infty)$). Define $V(t) := \int_0^t v(s) ds$. Then:

$$0 < V(t) < \infty$$

for all t > 0. Set

$$\varphi(x) := \left(\int_x^\infty \frac{g(s)}{V(s)} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{p'-1} \quad \text{for} \quad x \in (0,\infty).$$

Then φ is bounded and nonincreasing on $(0, \infty)$. Integration by parts yields:

$$\begin{split} &\int_0^\infty \varphi^p(x)v(x)\mathrm{d}x\\ &= \left[V(x)\int_x^\infty \left(\frac{g(t)}{V(t)}\right)^{p'}\mathrm{d}t\right]_0^\infty + p'\int_0^\infty g(x)\left(\int_x^\infty \frac{g(t)}{V(t)}\mathrm{d}t\right)^{p'-1}\mathrm{d}x\\ &= p'\int_0^\infty g(x)\varphi(x)\mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

The expression $\left[V(x)\int_x^\infty \frac{g(t)}{V(t)}\mathrm{d}t\right]_0^\infty$ equals zero since $\mathrm{supp}(g) \subset (0,\infty)$ is compact. Therefore taking $f(x) := \varphi(x)$ we get that the supremum on the left side is at least

$$\frac{\int_0^\infty \varphi(s)g(s)\mathrm{d}s}{\left(\int_0^\infty \varphi(s)^p v(s)\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}} = \frac{\int_0^\infty \varphi(s)^p v(s)\mathrm{d}s}{p'\left(\int_0^\infty \varphi(s)^p v(s)\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}} = \frac{1}{p'}\left(\int_0^\infty \varphi^p(s)v(s)\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{p'}\left(\left(\int_t^\infty \frac{g(s)}{V(s)}\mathrm{d}s\right)^{p'}v(t)\mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

On the other hand, consider f a nonnegative and nonincreasing function. We have

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\infty f(s)g(s)\mathrm{d}s &= \int_0^\infty f(s)\frac{g(s)}{V(s)}\int_0^s v(t)\mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}s = \int_0^\infty \int_t^\infty \frac{f(s)g(s)}{V(s)}\mathrm{d}sv(t)\mathrm{d}t\\ &\leq \int_0^\infty f(t)\left(\int_t^\infty \frac{g(s)}{V(s)}\mathrm{d}s\right)v(t)\mathrm{d}t\\ &\leq \left(\int_0^\infty f(t)^p v(t)\mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}\left(\int_0^\infty \left(\int_t^a \frac{g(s)}{V(s)}\mathrm{d}s\right)^{p'}v(t)\mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}. \end{split}$$

The last inequality follows from the Hölder inequality, and the previous one from the fact that f is nonincreasing. So we are done with the equivalence of the left hand side and the first expression on the right.

Now let
$$\{x_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$$
 be a sequence satisfying $\int_0^{x_j} g(s) ds = 2^{-j}$. Then

$$\int_0^{\infty} \left(\int_t^{\infty} \frac{g(s)}{V(s)} ds \right)^{p'-1} g(t) dt = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{x_{j+1}}^{x_j} \left(\int_t^{\infty} \frac{g(s)}{V(s)} ds \right)^{p'-1} g(t) dt$$

$$\geq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{x_{j+1}}^{x_j} V(x_j)^{1-p'} \left(\int_{x_j}^{\infty} g(s) ds \right)^{p'-1} g(t) dt$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} V(x_j)^{1-p'} \left(\int_{x_j}^{\infty} g(s) ds \right)^{p'-1} \int_{x_{j+1}}^{x_j} g(t) dt$$

$$\geq C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} V(x_{j+1})^{1-p'} \left(\int_{x_{j+1}}^{\infty} g(s) ds \right)^{p'-1} \int_{x_{j+1}}^{x_j} g(t) dt$$

$$\geq C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{x_{j+1}}^{x_j} G(x_j)^{p'-1} V(x_{j+1})^{1-p'} g(t) dt$$

$$\geq C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{x_{j+1}}^{x_j} G(x_j)^{p'-1} V(x_{j+1})^{1-p'} g(t) dt$$

Conversely, if $\int_0^\infty v(t) dt = \infty$, set $N := \infty$. In the case of $\int_0^\infty v(t) < \infty$, let N denote the largest integer, for which $2^{N-1} < \int_0^\infty v(t) dt$. Then

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\int_{t}^{\infty} \frac{g(s)}{V(s)} \mathrm{d}s \right)^{p'} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \sum_{j=-\infty}^{N-1} \int_{x_{j}}^{x_{j+1}} \left(\int_{t}^{\infty} \frac{g(s)}{V(s)} \mathrm{d}s \right)^{p'} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \sum_{j=-\infty}^{N-1} \int_{x_{j}}^{x_{j+1}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \left(\int_{x_{j}}^{\infty} \frac{g(s)}{V(s)} \mathrm{d}s \right)^{p'} \\ &\leq \sum_{j=-\infty}^{N} \left(\int_{x_{j}}^{x_{j+1}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \right) \left(\sum_{k=j}^{N-1} \frac{\int_{x_{k}}^{x_{k+1}} g(s) \mathrm{d}s}{V(x_{k})} \right)^{p'} \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=-\infty}^{N-1} 2^{j} \left(\sum_{k=j}^{N-1} 2^{-k} \int_{x_{k}}^{x_{k+1}} g(s) \mathrm{d}s \right)^{p'} \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=-\infty}^{N-1} 2^{j} \left(2^{-j} \int_{x_{j}}^{x_{j+1}} g(s) \mathrm{d}s \right)^{p'} \\ &= C \sum_{j=-\infty}^{N-1} \left(\frac{V(x_{j+1})}{2} \right)^{p'-1} \int_{x_{j}}^{x_{j+1}} p' \left(\int_{x_{j}}^{t} g(s) \mathrm{d}s \right)^{p'-1} g(t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=-\infty}^{N-1} \int_{x_{j}}^{x_{j+1}} G(t)^{p'-1} V(t)^{1-p'} g(t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= C \int_{0}^{\infty} G(t)^{p'-1} V(t)^{1-p'} g(t) \mathrm{d}t, \end{split}$$

where the inequality between the fourth and fifth line follows from the previous lemma, applied on the sequence

$$a_k := 2^{-k} \int_{x_k}^{x_{k+1}} g(s) \mathrm{d}s \quad \text{for} \quad -\infty \le k < N,$$
$$a_k := 0 \quad \text{for} \quad k \ge N.$$

To complete the proof, let's integrate the last expression by parts:

$$\int_0^\infty G(t)^{p'-1} V(t)^{1-p'} g(t) dt = \frac{1}{p'} \left[G(t)^{p'} V(t)^{1-p'} \right]_0^\infty + \frac{1}{p} \int_0^\infty G(t)^{p'} V(t)^{-p'} v(t) dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{p} \int_0^\infty G(t)^{p'} \frac{v(t)}{V(t)^{p'}} dt + \frac{1}{p'} \left(\int_0^\infty g(s) ds \right)^{p'} \left(\int_0^\infty v(s) ds \right)^{1-p'},$$

which proves the equivalence between second and third expression on the right-hand side. The proof is complete. $\hfill \Box$

Other applications of Γ spaces can be found in many branches of mathematics including probability theory, or the theory of the optimal function spaces in Sobolev embeddings, see, for example [10].

6. Generalized Gamma spaces

6.1. Normability and quasinormability. Let's start with the definition.

Definition 15. Let $0 < a \leq \infty$ and let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a measure space with $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = a$, where μ is non-atomic σ -finite, and let v be a weight defined on (0, a). Let $p, m \in (0, \infty)$. The function space $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ is the space of all measurable real-valued functions such that

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{G}\Gamma(p,m,v)} := \left(\int_0^a \left(\int_0^t f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{m}} < \infty.$$

Generalized Gamma spaces cover some well-known function spaces.

Example 2. Let $m \in (0, \infty)$ and let v be a positive weight function on $(0, \infty)$. If we set

$$w(s) := v(s)s^{-m}, \quad p := 1$$

then we have $G\Gamma(p, m, v) = \Gamma^m(w)$ and their norms coincide.

The other type of function space covered by $G\Gamma$ space is the Grand Lebesgue space L^{p} . Consider $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ with $|\Omega| < \infty$. The norm in the Grand Lebesgue space is given by

$$||f||_{p} := \sup_{0 < \varepsilon < p-1} \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |f(x)|^{p-\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{p-\varepsilon}}$$

Lemma 5. Let $1 . Suppose <math>|\Omega| = 1$ and let f be a measurable function on Ω . For such setting denote

$$||f||_{(0,p)} := \int_0^1 \frac{(1 - \log t)^{-\frac{1}{p}}}{t} \left(\int_0^t f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathrm{d}t.$$

Then, for all $f \in L^{p}$,

$$\|f\|_{p} \approx \|f\|_{0,p},$$

where the constants in \approx depend only on p.

Proof. See [13].

Example 3. If we set

$$v(t) := \frac{1}{t(1 - \log t)^{\frac{1}{p}}}, \quad m := 1,$$

we get

$$||f||_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)} = ||f||_{p}.$$

Since the definition of the functional $\|.\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)}$ is quite general, one cannot expect $G\Gamma$ to be a Banach function space unless we add some decent assumptions on p, m and v.

Theorem 7. Suppose $1 \le p, m < \infty$, and let v be a weight function defined on (0, a). The space $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ is a Banach function space if and only if at least one of the following conditions hold:

(1)
$$\mu(\mathcal{R}) < \infty \text{ and } v \in L^{1}_{(t^{\frac{m}{p}})}(0,a);$$

(2) $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = \infty, v\chi_{(0,1)} \in L^{1}_{(t^{\frac{m}{p}})}(0,1) \text{ and } v\chi_{(1,\infty)} \in L^{1}(1,\infty).$

Proof. Set $\rho(f) := \|f\|_{G\Gamma}$ for $f \in \mathcal{M}^+(\mathcal{R})$. We claim that ρ is a Banach function norm. First note that (P2) follows immediately from the definition. Next, if we apply the monotone convergence theorem at first on the inner integral and then on the outer one, we obtain (P3).

Let us prove (P1). Obviously, $\rho(af) = a\rho(f)$ for every a > 0 and $\rho(f) = 0$ iff f = 0 μ -a.e. It remains to show the triangle inequality. Define $E_t := \{f + g > (f + g)^*(t)\}$. Now using the Minkowski inequality in the space $L^p(E_t)$, we obtain

$$\left(\int_{0}^{t} (f+g)^{*}(s)^{p} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \left(\int_{E_{t}} (f+g)(s)^{p} d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
$$\leq \left(\int_{E_{t}} f(s)^{p} d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \left(\int_{E_{t}} g(s)^{p} d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
$$\leq \left(\int_{0}^{t} f^{*}(s)^{p} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \left(\int_{0}^{t} g^{*}(s)^{p} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Therefore:

$$\begin{split} \|f+g\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)} &= \left(\int_0^a \left(\int_0^t (f+g)^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{m}} \\ &= \left(\int_0^a \|(f+g)^*\|_{L^p(0,t)}^m v(t) \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{m}} \\ &\leq \left(\int_0^a (\|f^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} + \|g^*\|_{L^p(0,t)})^m v(t) \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{m}} \\ &= \left\| \|g^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} + \|f^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} \right\|_{L^m_w(0,a)} \\ &\leq \left\| \|g^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} \|_{L^m_w(0,a)} + \left\| \|f^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} \right\|_{L^m_w(0,a)} \\ &= \|f\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)} + \|g\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)} \,. \end{split}$$

As for (P4), let $\mu(E) < \infty$. Then

$$\|\chi_E\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)} = \left(\int_0^a \min(t,\mu(E))^{\frac{m}{p}}v(t)\mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{m}} < \infty$$

whenever one of the two conditions on the weight in the theorem is satisfied.

Finally, in order to prove (P5), let $\mu(E) < \infty$. Then

$$\left(\int_0^a \left(\int_0^t f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{m}} \ge \left(\int_{\mu(E)}^a \left(\int_0^{\mu(E)} f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}$$
18

$$\geq \left(\int_{\mu(E)}^{a} \left(\int_{E} f(s)^{p} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{m}} = \|f\|_{L^{p}(E)} \left(\int_{\mu(E)}^{a} v(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}.$$

Denoting $\frac{1}{c_E} := \operatorname{Opt}(L^p(E), L^1(E)) \left(\int_{\mu(E)}^a v(t) dt \right)^{\frac{1}{m}}$, we have

$$\int_{E} f \le c_E \, \|f\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)}$$

what was to be proved.

Although the case of $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ with $p \in (0, 1)$ or $m \in (0, 1)$ was not discussed in [3] we can wonder what we could find out in that case. As p < 1 or m < 1, we cannot expect $\|.\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)}$ to be a norm as the following counterexample shows.

Example 4. Let
$$\mu(\mathcal{R}) = \infty$$
, $v(t) := \frac{2}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{t^2}{2}}$, $p < 1$ and $m \in (0, \infty)$. Set $f_n := \chi_{A_n} n^{\frac{1}{p}}$ and $g_n := \chi_{B_n} n^{\frac{2}{p}}$,

where $B_n \subset A_n$, $\mu(A_n) = \frac{1}{n}$ and $\mu(B_n) = \frac{1}{n^2}$ (Since \mathcal{R} is non-atomic we may assume existence of such sets). We have

$$f_n^*(s)^p = n\chi_{(0,\frac{1}{n})}$$
 and $g_n^*(s)^p = n^2\chi_{(0,\frac{1}{n^2})}$.

So we can easily compute

$$\begin{aligned} \|f_n\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)}^m &= \int_0^\infty \left(\int_0^t n\chi_{(0,\frac{1}{n})}\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_0^\infty \left(nt\chi_{(0,\frac{1}{n})} + \chi_{(\frac{1}{n},\infty)}\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} \mathrm{d}v(t) \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 1 \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we find out that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \|g_n\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)} = 1$. Now we calculate

$$\begin{split} \|f_n + g_n\|_{(p,m,v)}^m &= \int_0^\infty \left(\int_0^t \left(n^{\frac{2}{p}} \chi_{(0,\frac{1}{n^2})} + n^{\frac{1}{p}} \chi_{(0,\frac{1}{n})} \right)^p \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &\geq \int_0^\infty \left(\int_0^t \left(n^{\frac{2}{p}} \chi_{(0,\frac{1}{n^2})} + n^{\frac{1}{p}} \chi_{(\frac{1}{n^2},\frac{1}{n})} \right)^p \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &\geq \int_{\frac{1}{n}}^\infty \left(2 - \frac{1}{n} \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 2^{\frac{m}{p}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we find f_n, g_n , such that

$$||f_n||_{(p,m,v)} < 1, ||g||_{(p,m,v)} < 1$$

and

$$||f_n + g_n||_{(p,m,v)}^m > 2^{\frac{m}{p}} - \varepsilon$$

Now if we choose an $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, we have f_n, g_n with

$$||f_n||_{(p,m,v)} < 1, \quad ||g_n||_{(p,m,v)} < 1$$

and

$$||f+g||_{(p,m,v)} > 2^{\frac{1}{p}} - \delta$$

for an arbitrary $\delta > 0$. Thus $\|.\|_{(p,m,v)}$ is not a norm.

Observe that the method in the previous example can be easily adopted for every $v \in L^1[0, \infty)$.

Although we found out that for the general setting presented in the definition of $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ is not BFS, we could still try to show it's a quasi-Banach function space, which also enjoys some nice properties.

Lemma 6. Let (\mathcal{R}, μ) be a measure space and $p \in (0, 1)$. Then the functional $\|.\|_p$ defined by

$$\|f\|_p := \left(\int_{\mathcal{R}} |f|^p \mathrm{d}\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

is a quasinorm.

Proof. We have

$$\|f+g\|_p^p = \int_{\mathcal{R}} |f+g|^p \mathrm{d}\mu = 2^p \int_{\mathcal{R}} \left(\frac{|f+g|}{2}\right)^p \mathrm{d}\mu \le 2^p \int_{\mathcal{R}} \max\left\{|f|^p, |g|^p\right\} \mathrm{d}\mu.$$

The last expression equals

$$2^{p} \left(\int_{\{|f| \ge |g|\}} |f|^{p} d\mu + \int_{\{|g| > |f|\}} |g|^{p} d\mu \right) \le 2^{p} \int_{\mathcal{R}} \left(|f|^{p} + |g|^{p} \right) d\mu$$
$$= 2^{p} \left(||f||_{p}^{p} + ||g||_{p}^{p} \right).$$

Since

Since

$$\|f\|_{p}^{p} + \|g\|_{p}^{p} \leq 2 \max\left\{\|f\|_{p}^{p}, \|g\|_{p}^{p}\right\},$$
we have $\|f + g\|_{p} \leq 2^{1+\frac{1}{p}} \max\left\{\|f\|_{p}, \|g\|_{p}\right\} \leq 2^{1+\frac{1}{p}} (\|f\|_{p} + \|g\|_{p}).$

Theorem 8. Denote $a := \mu(\mathcal{R})$. Let p, q > 0, and let v be a weight function defined on (0, a) satisfying:

(1) $v \in L^{1}_{(t^{\frac{m}{p}})}(0,a)$ for $\mu(\mathcal{R}) < \infty$, (2) $v\chi_{(0,1)} \in L^{1}_{(t^{\frac{m}{p}})}(0,1)$ and $v\chi_{(1,\infty)} \in L^{1}(1,\infty)$ for $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = \infty$.

Then $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ is a QBFS.

Proof. Choose $f, g \in G\Gamma(p, m, v)$. Similarly as in the proof of the previous theorem, we denote:

$$E_t := \{f + g > (f + g)^*(t)\}, \quad t \in (0, a)$$

Now, for $q \in (0, \infty)$, denote $c_q := 2^{1+\frac{1}{q}}$. By using the previous lemma we obtain

$$\left(\int_0^t (f+g)^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \left(\int_{E_t} (f+g)(s)^p d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
$$\leq c_p \left(\left(\int_{E_t} f(s)^p d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \left(\int_{E_t} g(s)^p d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}\right)$$
$$\leq c_p \left(\left(\int_0^t f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \left(\int_0^t g^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}\right).$$

Therefore:

$$\begin{split} \|f+g\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)} &= \left(\int_0^a \left(\int_0^t (f+g)^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{m}} \\ &= \left(\int_0^a \|(f+g)^*\|_{L^p(0,t)}^m v(t) \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{m}} \\ &\leq c_p \left(\left(\int_0^a (\|f^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} + \|g^*\|_{L^p(0,t)})^m v(t) \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{m}} \right) \\ &= c_p \left\| \|g^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} + \|f^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} \right\|_{L^m_w(0,a)} \\ &\leq c_p c_m \left\| \|g^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} \right\|_{L^m_w(0,a)} + \left\| \|f^*\|_{L^p(0,t)} \right\|_{L^m_w(0,a)} \\ &= c_p c_m (\|f\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)} + \|g\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,v)}). \end{split}$$

Observe that (P2) and (P3) are satisfied and that (P4) can be proved exactly in the same way as in the previous theorem.

6.2. Characterization of $G\Gamma'$. Now when we have stated the necessary and sufficient conditions of normability and quasinormability, we can move to another important task. Let's try to characterize the associate norm. (i.e. find some more explicit formula that is equivalent to it.)

If we manage to find the optimal constant of embedding $G\Gamma(p, m, v) \hookrightarrow \Lambda^1(g^*)$ then:

$$C_{p,m} = \sup_{f \in \mathrm{G}\Gamma(p,m,v)} \frac{\int_0^a f^* g^*}{\|f\|_{\mathrm{G}\Gamma(p,m,v)}} = \|g\|_{\mathrm{G}\Gamma'(p,m,v)}$$

Note that the supremum is exactly the expression of the dual norm, since (\mathcal{R}, μ) is resonant (see Lemma 3 and the following remark). Let's try to find this optimal constant.

We have

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{\mathrm{G}\Gamma(p,m,v)} &:= \left(\int_0^a \left(\int_0^t f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{a}{m}} \\ &= \int_0^a \left(\left(\frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} t^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{m}} \\ &= \left(\int_0^a (f^p(t)^{**})^{\frac{m}{p}} w(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{m}}, \end{split}$$

where w is defined by $w(t) := t^{\frac{m}{p}}v(t)$.

Now we wonder when and with which optimal constant the inequality

$$\int_{0}^{a} f^{*}(t)u(t)dt \leq C_{p,m} \left(\int_{0}^{a} ((f^{p})^{**})^{\frac{m}{p}}(t)w(t)dt \right)^{\frac{1}{m}}$$

holds. Set $h := f^p$. We wish to know when

$$\int_{0}^{a} h^{*}(t)^{\frac{1}{p}} u(t) \mathrm{d}t \leq C_{p,m} \left(\int_{0}^{a} h^{**}(t)^{\frac{m}{p}} w(t) \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{m}}.$$

This happens if and only if

$$\left(\int_0^a h^*(t)^{\frac{1}{p}} u(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^p \le C_{p,m}^p \left(\int_0^a h^{**}(t)^{\frac{m}{p}} w(t) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{p}{m}}.$$

Therefore, we are searching for the optimal constant in the embedding

(6.1)
$$\Gamma^{\frac{m}{p}}(w) \hookrightarrow \Lambda^{\frac{1}{p}}(u).$$

But these constants have already been characterized in [2], where explicit equivalent formulas were given.

Theorem 9. (1) Let $P \in (0,\infty), Q \in (0,1), Q \leq P$ and φ, ϱ weight functions. The embedding

(6.2)
$$\Gamma^{P}(\varrho) \hookrightarrow \Lambda^{Q}(\varphi)$$

holds if and only if

$$C1 := \left(\int_0^a \frac{\Phi(t)^{\frac{1}{1-Q}} + t^{\frac{Q}{1-Q}} \int_t^a \Phi(s)^{\frac{Q}{1-Q}} \varphi(s) s^{-\frac{Q}{1-Q}} \mathrm{d}s \Phi(t)^{\frac{Q}{1-Q}} \varphi(t)}{(O(t) + t^P \int_t^a s^{-P} \varrho(s) \mathrm{d}s)^{\frac{R}{P}}} \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{R}} < \infty.$$

$$(2) \ Let \ 0 < P \le Q < \infty \ and \ 1 \le Q < \infty \ then \ (6.2) \ holds \ if \ and \ only \ if$$

$$C2 := \sup_{t \in (0,a)} \frac{\Phi(t)^{\frac{1}{Q}}}{\left(O(t) + t^p \int_t^a s^{-P} \varrho(s) \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}} < \infty.$$

(3) Let
$$1 \leq Q < P < \infty$$
. Then (6.2) holds if and only if

$$C3 := \int_0^a \frac{\sup_{y \in (t,a)} (y^{-R} \Phi(y)^{\frac{R}{Q}}) (O(t) \int_t^a s^{-p} \varrho(s) \mathrm{d}s)^{\frac{1}{R}}}{(O(t) + t^p \int_t^a s^{-p} \varrho(s) \mathrm{d}s)^{\frac{R}{p}}} \mathrm{d}t^P < \infty.$$

(4) Let $0 < P \le Q < 1$ then (6.2) holds if and only if

$$C4 := \sup_{t \in (0,a)} \frac{\Phi^{\frac{1}{Q}}(t) + t(\int_{t}^{a} \Phi(s)^{\frac{Q}{1-Q}} \varphi(s)s^{-\frac{Q}{1-Q}} ds)^{\frac{1-Q}{Q}}}{(O(t) + t^{P} \int_{t}^{a} s^{-p} \varrho(s) ds)^{\frac{1}{P}}} < \infty,$$

where $R := \frac{PQ}{P-Q}$ and $O(t) := \int_0^t \rho(s) ds$, $\Phi(t) := \int_0^t \varphi(s) ds$. Moreover the optimal constant $C \approx C1$ (resp. $C \approx C2$, $C \approx C3$, $C \approx C4$), where the constant of equivalence depends only on P and Q.

Proof. The proof of the theorem can be found in [2, Theorem 4.2] (the proof there is given for σ -finite measure spaces, however all steps in the proof can be done for space with $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = a$ as well).

Corollary 2. Set $P := \frac{m}{p}$, $Q := \frac{1}{p}$

- (1) If $p, m \in (1, \infty)$ then $C_{p,m} \approx C1^{\frac{1}{p}}$.
- (2) If $p \in (0,1), m \in (1,\infty)$ then $C_{p,m} \approx C3^{\frac{1}{p}}$.
- (3) If $p \in (0,1), m \in (0,1]$ then $C_{p,m} \approx C2^{\frac{1}{p}}$.
- (4) If $p \in (1, \infty), m \in (0, 1]$ then $C_{p,m} \approx C4^{\frac{1}{p}}$.

Proof. All the assumptions follow from the preceding argument and Theorem 9 $\hfill \Box$

6.3. **Reflexivity.** Let us investigate for which setting of (p,m,v) the $G\Gamma(p,m,w)$ -spaces are reflexive.

Now, equipped with the explicit formula for associate norm, recall theorem 1. We need to show for which setting the space $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ and it's associate space have absolutely continuous norm.

Theorem 10. The function space $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ has absolutely continuous norm for $p, m \in (1, \infty)$ if and only if at least one of the following conditions holds:

- (1) $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = a < \infty$,
- (2) $\int_0^a (tv(t))^{\frac{m}{p}} \mathrm{d}t = \infty.$

Proof. Assume that the condition (1) is satisfied. Let $E_n \downarrow \emptyset$ and $f \in G\Gamma(p, m, v)$. Then

$$\int_0^a \left(\int_0^t (f\chi_{E_n})^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}sv(t) \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} \mathrm{d}t = \int_0^a \left(\int_0^{\min(t,\mu(E_n))} f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}sv(t) \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} \mathrm{d}t.$$

Due to the finiteness of the measure of \mathcal{R} , $E_n \downarrow \emptyset$ implies $\mu(E_n) \downarrow 0$. Therefore,

$$\int_0^{\min(t,\mu(E_n))} f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}sv(t) \to 0$$

for all a > t > 0, so we have the pointwise convergence

$$\left(\int_0^t (f\chi_{E_n})^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}sv(t)\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} \to 0.$$

Now, if we use the dominated convergence theorem with $(\int_0^t f^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}sv(t))^{\frac{m}{p}}$ as a majorant we obtain $||f\chi_{E_n}|| \to 0$, which was what we wanted.

Assume that (2) is satisfied and $\mu(\mathcal{R}) = \infty$. Then, for every $f \in G\Gamma(p, m, v)$, the sets $F_k := \{f \geq \frac{1}{k}\}$ have finite measure. Let $E_n \downarrow \emptyset$. Set $f_n := f\chi_{E_n}$, $f_{n,k} := f_n \chi_{F_k}$ and choose $\varepsilon > 0$. We have

$$||f_n|| \le ||f_n - f_{n,k}|| + ||f_{n,k}||$$

Observe that:

$$||f_n - f_{n,k}|| = \int_0^\infty \left(\int_0^t (|f - f\chi_{F_k}|\chi_{E_n})^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}sv(t) \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} \mathrm{d}t$$

$$\geq \int_0^\infty \left(\int_0^t (|f - f\chi_{F_k}|\chi_{E_{n+1}})^*(s)^p \mathrm{d}sv(t) \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} \mathrm{d}t$$

$$= ||f_{n+1} - f_{n+1,k}||.$$

Fix n. We see that:

$$\|f_n - f_{n,k}\|^m \le \int_0^\infty \left(\int_0^t \left(\min\left(f(s), \frac{1}{k}\right)\right)^* (s)^p \mathrm{d}sv(t)\right)^{\frac{m}{p}} \mathrm{d}t.$$

 $t > 0$ we have:

For every t > 0 we have:

$$\left(\int_0^t \left(\min\left(f(s), \frac{1}{k}\right)\right)^p \mathrm{d}s\right) \stackrel{\frac{m}{p}}{\to} k \to \infty 0.$$

Therefore,

$$\|f_n - f_{n,k}\| \stackrel{k \to \infty}{\to} 0,$$

by the dominated convergence theorem. Observe that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\|f_{n,k}\| \stackrel{n \to \infty}{\to} 0,$$

which follows from the first part of the proof since F_k have finite measure. Let's choose $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $||f_1 - f_{1,k}|| < \varepsilon$ and n_0 , such that $||f_{n,k}|| < \varepsilon$ for all $n > n_0$. Conclude:

$$||f_n|| \le ||f_n - f_{n,k}|| + ||f_{n,k}|| \le ||f_{1,k} - f_1|| + ||f_{n,k}|| \le 2\varepsilon$$

Now, for v with $\int_0^a (tv(t))^{\frac{m}{p}} dt < \infty$ one readily checks that function f(x) = 1, $x \in \mathcal{R}$ is an element of $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ and doesn't have an absolutely continuous norm.

Theorem 11. Let $p, m \in (1, \infty)$ and let v be a weight on (0, a). Then the associate space to $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ has an absolutely continuous norm.

Proof. Let $p, m \in (1, \infty)$ and let v be a weight on (0, a). From the first section of this paper we know that

$$\|g\|_{G\Gamma'(p,m,v)} \approx \left(\int_0^a \frac{G(t)^{\frac{1}{1-Q}} + t^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} \int_t^a G(s)^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} g(s) s^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} \mathrm{d}s G(t)^{\frac{Q}{1-Q}} g(t)}{(W(t) + t^P \int_t^a s^{-P} w(s) \mathrm{d}s)^{\frac{R}{P}}} \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{PR}},$$

where $w(t) := t^{\frac{m}{p}}v(t)$, $G(t) := \int_0^t g(s)ds$ and $W(t) := \int_0^t w(s)ds$. Let E_n be a sequence of sets such that $E_n \downarrow \emptyset$. Now denote

$$U_{g}(t) := G(t)^{\frac{1}{1-Q}} + t^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} \int_{t}^{a} G(s)^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} g(s) s^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} \mathrm{d}s G(t)^{\frac{Q}{1-Q}} g(t),$$
$$L(t) := \left(W(t) + t^{P} \int_{t}^{a} s^{-P} w(s) \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{R}{P}}$$

and $g_n := g\chi_{E_n}$. Now we need to show that

$$\int_0^a \frac{U_{g_n}(t)}{L(t)} \mathrm{d}t \stackrel{n \to \infty}{\to} 0.$$

It's suffices to show that $U_{g_n} \to 0$ pointwise. The rest follows immediately from the dominated convergence theorem.

We have

$$G_n(t) := \int_0^t (g\chi_{E_n})^* \mathrm{d}t \le \int_0^{\min(t,\mu(E_n))} g^*(t) \mathrm{d}t \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 0,$$

hence

$$U_{g_n}(t) := G_n(t)^{\frac{1}{1-Q}} + t^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} \int_t^a G_n(s)^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} g_n(s) s^{\frac{Q}{Q-1}} \mathrm{d}s G_n(t)^{\frac{Q}{1-Q}} g_n(t) \stackrel{n \to \infty}{\to} 0.$$

So we have the pointwise convergence, as needed.

Corollary 3. For $p, m \in (1, \infty)$ the space $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ is reflexive if and only if at least one of the following conditions holds:

- (1) $\mu(\mathcal{R}) < \infty$
- (2) $(tw(t))^{\frac{m}{p}} \notin L^1(\mathbb{R})$

6.4. **Open problems in Gamma spaces.** There are many challenging problems yet to be solved, for instance:

(1) As the continuous and almost compact embeddings between classical Lorentz spaces

$$\Lambda^{p}(v) \hookrightarrow \Lambda^{q}(w), \Lambda^{p} \hookrightarrow \Gamma^{q}(v), \Gamma^{p} \hookrightarrow \Gamma^{q}(v), \Gamma^{p} \hookrightarrow \Lambda^{q}(v)$$
$$\Lambda^{p}(v) \hookrightarrow^{*} \Lambda^{q}(w), \Lambda^{p} \hookrightarrow^{*} \Gamma^{q}(v), \Gamma^{p} \hookrightarrow^{*} \Gamma^{q}(v), \Gamma^{p} \hookrightarrow^{*} \Lambda^{q}(v),$$

have been characterized in [2] and [14], one could ask for generalization, considering instead of the space Gamma the space $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$.

- (2) In classical spaces the conditions for uniform convexity have been made for Λ spaces in [11]. For $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ the geometrical properties are still unclassified.
- (3) Further generalization of $G\Gamma(p, m, v)$ could be made if we consider space $G\Gamma(p, m, u, v)$ with the norm defined as

$$\|f\|_{G\Gamma(p,m,u,v)} := \left(\left(\int_0^t f^*(s)^p u(s) \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{m}{p}} v(t) \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{m}}.$$

As there are two weights and one is inside the inner integral we have a problem with normability and quasinormability similar to the that for Λ spaces.

References

- C. Bennett and R. Sharpley, *Interpolation of Operators*, Pure and Applied Mathematics Vol. 129, Academic Press, Boston 1988.
- [2] A. Gogatishvili and L. Pick, Discretization and anti-discretization of rearrangementinvariant norms, Publ. Mat. 47 (2003), 311–358.
- [3] A. Fiorenza, J.M. Rakotoson and L. Zitouny, *Relative Rearrangement Methods for Estimating Dual Norms*, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 58,3 (2009), 1127–1149.
- [4] E. Sawyer, Boundedness of classical operators on classical Lorentz spaces, Studia Math. 96 (1990), 145–158.
- [5] G.G. Lorentz, On the theory of spaces Λ, Pacific J. Math. 1 (1951), 411–429.
- [6] M.J. Carro, J.A. Raposo, J. Soria, Recent Development in the Theory of Lorentz Spaces and Weighted Inequalities, Mem. of the Amer. Mat. Soc. 187 (2007), 1–128.
- [7] J. Lukeš and J. Malý, *Measure and Integral*, MatfyzPress, Prague 2005.
- [8] A. Fiorenza and J.M. Rakotoson, Some estimates in $G\Gamma(p, m, w)$ space, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **340** (2008), 793–805.
- [9] A. Fiorenza and J.M. Rakotoson, Compactness, interpolation inequalities for small Lebesgue-Sobolev spaces and applications, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 25 (2006), 187–203.
- [10] L. Pick, Optimality of Function Spaces in Sobolev Embeddings, Inter. Math. Ser. 8 (2009), 249–280.
- [11] A. Kamińska, Uniform convexity of generalized Lorentz spaces, Arch. Math. 56 (1991), 181–188.
- [12] M. Cwikel, A Kamińska, L Maligranda and L. Pick, Are generalized Lorentz "spaces" really spaces?, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 132 (2004), 3615--3625.
- [13] A. Fiorenza and G.E. Karadzhov, Grand and small Lebesgue spaces and their analogs, Z. Anal. Anwendungen 23 (2004), 657–671.
- [14] M. Křepela, Almost compact embeddings of function spaces, Master Thesis.